Mother-child adrenocortical attunement in relation to behavioral sensitivity: A study of stress response in an at-risk sample.

Paula L. Ruttle

A Thesis

in

The Department

of ·

Psychology

Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements
For the Degree of Mater of Arts at
Concordia University
Montreal, Quebec, Canada

July 2007

© Paula Ruttle, 2007



Library and Archives Canada

Branch

Published Heritage

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-34770-6 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-34770-6

NOTICE:

The author has granted a non-exclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or non-commercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Abstract

Synchronization of behavior, emotions and physiology in mother-child dyads appears to be related to adaptive functioning in children. While non-human research has repeatedly demonstrated synchrony (i.e. attunement) of mother and offspring physiological response to a stressful situation, only one study has examined this phenomenon in human dyads. The present study aimed to replicate the finding of mother-child adrenocortical attunement in a human population, as well as examine the relation between adrenocortical attunement and individual differences in behavioral sensitivity.

Sixty-three mother-child dyads, participated in two home visits. The first visit included a mother-child interactive free-play task, used to measure mothers' and children's behavioral sensitivity; the second visit consisted of a child IQ test, included as a potentially stressful situation for both mother and child. Salivary cortisol samples were collected from mother and child before and after the IQ test. Results indicated the existence of mother-child adrenocortical attunement in reaction to a stressful situation. Further, attunement varied as a function of behavioral sensitivity (mother's, child's and dyad's behavioral sensitivity). Findings suggest that physiological attunement may coexist with behavioral sensitivity in at-risk populations, and that child behavioral sensitivity and mother behavioral sensitivity are equally related to adrenocortical attunement. In conclusion, measures of behavioral sensitivity containing information on both partners may be more informative than measures based exclusively on one partner's behavior when examining dyadic interactions in relation to psychophysiological responses to stress.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks are given to my supervisor, Dr. Lisa Serbin, for her guidance and expertise extended to me for the past two years. Lisa, your encouragement and support is truly appreciated.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. David Forman and Dr. Mark Ellenbogen for their efficiency and helpful suggestions. A huge thank you also goes to Claude Senneville, Guanghui Lee, Jon Santo, Donna Craven and Pippa Ross for all their help and expert advice. I would never have been able to manage without you!

A big thank you goes out to my "lab sisters" Alexa, Erin, Lisa, and Caroline.

Your support and guidance in school-related and personal crises has saved my sanity

numerous times and will no doubt continue to do so in the future. You make coming into
the lab not only an enjoyable experience but also a memorable one!

Thanks are also extended to my friends, both here and at home, for helping me reach my goals and strive to reach my full potential. Your love and support was the lifesaver that rescued me from drowning in the never ending sea of articles and draft copies of my thesis.

Finally I would like to thank my family for their endless love and support from afar. To my brothers, thanks for providing me with 3 awesome case studies!! Dad, your fatherly pride was a driving source of motivation and your advice kept me on track. And finally, Mom, your homemade cards and care packages mean more than you'll ever know; your words of encouragement and faith gave me the strength to make it through the rough spots; and your tenacity and fearlessness to push yourself inspires me daily. The tide is high but I'm holding on!

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vii
List of Appendicesv	⁄iii
Introduction	1
Maternal Sensitivity and Child Outcomes	2
The Child as an Influential Agent.	5
Dyadic Behavior	6
Dyadic Physiological Attunement	.7
Method	.9
Participants	.9
Current Sample	.9
Salivary Cortisol Samples	10
Procedure	12
Interactive Free-Play and Interference Task	13
Measures	14
Socio-demographic Information	14
Child's Cognitive Abilities	14
Behavioral Sensitivity	15
Data Reduction	16
Results	18
Preliminary Analyses	18
Main Analyses	20
Hypothesis 1: Attunement of Mother and Child Adrenocortical Level in Response to a Potentially Challenging Situation	20

Attunement	20
Hypothesis 3: Children's Behavioral Synchrony and Mother-Child Cortisol Attunement	21
Hypothesis 4: Dyad's Behavioral Synchrony and Mother-Child Cortisol Attunement	22
Hypothesis 5: Strength of Association between Dyad's Behavioral Synchrony and Mother-Child Cortisol Attunement	
Discussion	24
Limitations	26
Concluding Comments and Future Directions	28
References	30
Tables	40
Appendices	43

List of Tables

Table 1.	Correlations between the variables in the model	Page 40
Table 2.	Correlations Among Time and Cortisol Variables	41
Table 3.	Correlations Among Time and Sensitivity Variables	42

List of Appendices

Appendix A.	Demographic Information Questionnaire (DIQ)	Page43
Appendix B.	Consent Form.	49
Appendix C.	Home Visit Protocol	51

Behavioral and physiological synchrony between mothers and children has become the focus of a growing number of studies over the past decade. Mother-child "interaction synchrony" refers to the matching of behavior, affective states and biological rhythms within the dyad (Feldman, 2007). Feldman suggests that synchrony allows for an uninterrupted exchange of information between mother and child that facilitates communication as well as cognitive and emotional development. A large proportion of the early research on mother-child dyads suggests that maternal behavior largely directs mother-child interactions (Gross, 1983; Kaye & Charney, 1980; Schaffer & Crook, 1979, 1980) and many consider maternal sensitivity to her child's motivational state and behavior to be the driving force behind synchronous relationships. Alternatively, researchers are increasingly considering how characteristics of the child may be related to various maternal responses suggesting that the child is also an influential agent in dyadic interactions (see Isabella, Belsky & von Eye, 1989).

While researchers have repeatedly linked individual behavioral differences to synchronous behaviors in mother-child dyads (Carpenter, Nagell, & Tomasello, 1998; Criss, Shaw & Ingoldsby, 2003; Fletcher, Perez, Hooper & Claussen, 2005; Isabella, Belsky & von Eye, 1989; Rocissano, Slade & Lynch, 1987; Skuban, Shaw, Gardner, Supplee & Nichols, 2006; Tomasello & Farrar, 1986), only one study (Sethre-Hofstad, Stansbury, & Rice, 2002) has linked individual behavioral differences to synchronous physiological changes in mother's and child's adrenocortical levels. This study examined the relationship between individual differences in behavioral sensitivity and synchronous changes in mother's and child's adrenocortical levels (referred to as "adrenocortical attunement") in response to a potentially challenging situation. However, the Sethre-

Hofstad et al. (2002) study only examined adrenocortical attunement in relation to individual differences in *mother's* behavioral sensitivity. The relationship between individual differences in behavioral sensitivity and mother-child adrenocortical attunement to potentially challenging situations remains unclear. In the present study we examined mother's, child's, and dyad's behavioral sensitivity in relation to synchronous changes in mother's and child's adrenocortical response.

Maternal Sensitivity and Child Outcomes

The quality of one-on-one interactions with significant others is crucial to children's survival and development. Infants depend on the primary caregiver for protection and fulfillment of the needs essential for optimal growth and development. A mother's ability to identify, attend to, and fulfill the needs of her child is largely dependant on her sensitivity level. Sensitive caregiving in the context of secure attachments has been shown to be an antecedent of children's adaptive functioning and contributes to individual cognitive (e.g., Beckwith, Rodning, & Cohen, 1992; van IJzendoorn, Dijkstra & Bus, 1995) and social development (e.g., Berlin, Cassidy & Belsky, 1995; Donovan & Leavitt, 1978; van IJzendoorn et al., 1995). Additionally, several caregiver characteristics associated with sensitive caregiving have been shown to influence child emotion regulation (see Thompson, 1994, for a review) and protect against the effects of negative life events and stress. This effect seems to be particularly salient in risk populations (Ben-Dat Fisher, Serbin, Stack, Ruttle, Ledingham & Schwartzman, 2007; Feldman, Eidelman, & Rotenberg, 2004; Ostfeld, Smith, Hiatt, & Hegyi, 2000; Stams, Juffer & van IJzendoorn, 2002).

The effects of caregiver sensitivity are most markedly observed in children exposed to early adverse care including maltreatment, neglect and/or abuse. Children reared in such conditions are typically delayed in several aspects of cognitive, emotional and social development and possess abnormal neurobiological structures (for reviews see Glaser, 2000). Additionally, several studies have found that children exposed to abuse and neglect demonstrate signs of altered physiological mechanisms including those involved in the stress response (Ashman, Dawson, Panagiotides, Yamada & Wilkins, 2002; Carlson & Earls, 1997; Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2001; Fisher, Gunnar, Chamberlain & Reid, 2000; Gunnar, Morison, Chisholm, & Schuder, 2001; Hart, Gunnar & Cicchetti, 1996; Kaufman, 1991).

Similar profound physiological alterations have also been demonstrated in children reared in less severe, but nonetheless unfavorable, conditions including a subsample of children from disadvantaged backgrounds who are currently participating in a longitudinal study on the inter-generational transfer of risk for psychopathology (Concordia Longitudinal Research Project; Ben-Dat Fisher et al., 2007). This study examined mother-child dyads and found maternal support and stimulation to be factors in offsprings' development of atypical adrenocortical patterns. Such findings demonstrate the profound impact of caregiver behavior on the developing child's neurological and physiological functioning.

Several non-human studies examined the activity of mother's and offspring's stress response. These studies report that mother and offspring tend to demonstrate similar adrenocortical responses following exposure to stressful situations (Champoux & Suomi, 1994; Coe, Mendoza, Smotherman, & Levine, 1978; Smotherman et al., 1977;

Stanton & Levine, 1985; Vogt & Levine, 1980). To date, however, only one study has examined the association between maternal and child adrenocortical response to stress in a human population. Sethre-Hofstad and colleagues (2002) examined attunement of mother and child adrenocortical response to a potentially challenging situation in sixty-four mother-child dyads. Attunement of adrenocortical response was considered to occur if a significant correlation existed between mothers' and children's cortisol responses. The procedure involved two separate tasks: a mother-child teaching task and a potentially challenging situation. The teaching task was included to provide a measure of mothers' behavioral sensitivity to their child and involved mothers teaching their child how to play a board game. The potentially challenging situation was included to elicit a cortisol response and involved children (ranging in age from 2 to 4.5 years) walking on a balance beam while their mothers watched from a different room.

Salivary cortisol samples were collected from mother and child immediately upon arrival to the lab (baseline sample) and again 30 minutes after the beginning of the balance beam task (reactivity sample). Findings suggest the occurrence of mother-child adrenocortical attunement in a human population. Furthermore, degree of adrenocortical attunement varied as a function of ratings of maternal sensitivity during the teaching task. These findings are the first of their kind to be identified in a human population and replication of such findings is essential to lend further support to the notion of adrenocortical attunement between mother and child in a human population. While the research conducted by Sethre-Hofstad and colleagues (2002) was pioneering, it only examined mother's behavioral sensitivity in relation to adrenocortical attunement to a

stressor. The potential role of child behavioral sensitivity during interactions with mother in adrenocortical attunement has yet to be examined.

The Child as an Influential Agent

Interactions within a parent-child dyad are generally accepted to be bi-directional, with the child's behavior and characteristics influencing the mother's behavior and viseversa, rather than simply unidirectional (i.e., mother's behavior influencing the child's development). As highlighted above, maternal behaviors have a profound impact on child behavior and development, but child behavior can also influence parent behavior. Initially, theorists and researchers considered infants and young children to be passive participants in interactions with their mothers; however, more recent theories depicting young children as active contributors to their social world and development (Stern, 1977) have prompted researchers to examine the role of the child in mother-child interactions.

From early on, children have been shown to influence parental behaviors. Parke and Collmer (1975) suggested that infant behavior such as certain forms of crying may contribute to the development of child abuse. This controversial statement sparked a series of studies including one conducted by Frodi and Lamb (1980) which suggested that abusers find all infant social elicitation (i.e. smiling, crying) to be aversive thus confirming this suggestion. Moreover, infant characteristics including gestational age at birth and temperament have been shown to influence maternal sensitivity levels postpartum (Diener, Nievar, Wright, 2003; Shin, Park & Kim, 2006) such that mothers demonstrate less sensitivity towards infants with lower gestational ages and more difficult temperaments. While there is some debate concerning the importance of the

mother's versus the child's role during interactions, most researchers examining such dyadic interactions perceive them to be mutually influenced.

Dyadic Behavior

The offspring-mother relationship begins very early in child development and continues throughout the lifespan. As children grow and develop their influence on mother-child interactions increases until both partners play an equally important role. The notion of bi-directionality in the mother-child relationship is fundamental to understanding such dynamic interactions and researchers are becoming increasingly aware of the value of studying the behaviors of both parent and child, even in infancy (Tronick, 1980). One such study examining the roles played by infants and their mothers in predicting attachment security was conducted by Braungart-Rieker, Garwood, Powers & Wang (2001). They found that mothers judged as being more sensitive were more likely to have secure attachments later on with their child but how security was expressed depended on the infant's ability to regulate emotion. Studies which examine the behaviors of both partners in a dyadic context are better able to capture how partners influence each other and avoid attributing the majority of the influential power to one or the other.

While studying the behavior of each partner during dyadic interaction is important, some argue that studying the separate behaviors of each partner is not sufficient in explaining the intricacies associated with dyadic interactions. In other words, that the behavior of each partner should be viewed as an entity, and the interaction of both partners together should be conceptualized as a whole. Daniel Stern (1977) metaphorically describes such interactions as a "dance" with the changes in each

individual's behavior being a product of prior behaviors and a cause of future behaviors. Both the mother and child act in a manner contingent on their partner's previous behavior as they interpret their partner's behavior and adapt their response accordingly. The transactional model (Sameroff, 1983, 1993) posits that outcomes cannot be attributed solely to the individual but rather must be viewed as the combined result of the individual and his or her experiences. Interactional effects between partners may affect individual as well as dyadic behaviors. From this perspective, focusing exclusively on the behavior of one partner at a time may obscure the meaning of exchanges and interactions.

In light of such models of development, researchers are currently examining how interactive dyadic behaviors predict individual outcomes. For example, joint attention, which involves coordination of attention between self, other, and a third object (Tomasello, 1995), has been linked a variety of child competencies including language (Carpenter et al., 1998; Fletcher et al., 2005; Tomasello & Farrar, 1986), cognition (Carpenter et al., 1998), and self-regulation (Raver, 1996). Other dyad-related behaviors have been shown to predict not only child-related outcomes but also parent-related outcomes. Mother-child interactive positivity (defined as the quality of exchanges and shared affect between the mother and child) has been shown to predict later socialization behaviors in both mother and child (Kochanska, Forman, & Coy, 1999). Moreover, variables reflecting the level of sensitivity within dyads, such as mutuality and reciprocity of behavior, have been shown to promote child behaviors similar to those promoted by maternal sensitivity (i.e. cooperation and compliance) (Maccoby, 1983; Maccoby & Martin, 1983; Rocissano, Slade & Lynch, 1987).

Dyadic Physiological Attunement

While several human studies have examined the matching of behavioral responses in dyads, the majority of studies examining the matching of adrenocortical responses have been conducted with non-human mother-offspring dyads. An elevated adrenocortical reaction in response to separation has been reliably found in both mother and offspring of non-human primates (Champoux & Suomi, 1994; Coe et al., 1978; Stanton & Levine, 1985; Vogt & Levine, 1980). Additionally, research examining the physiological reaction to separation in rat pups and their mothers has revealed similar results (Smotherman et al., 1977; Stanton & Levine, 1990). While these studies neglected to identify individual differences associated with physiological reactivity, other studies examining physiological reaction have identified various differences in behavior that correspond to physiological functioning in non-human mammals and their offspring (Champoux, Bryne, DeLizio & Suomi, 1992). As previously mentioned, only one study (Sethre-Hofstad et al., 2002) has examined adrenocortical attunement in humans. The present study aimed to replicate these findings and to extend our understanding of the dyadic nature of cortisol attunement by examining the possible relationship between child behavior and adrenocortical attunement. In addition, the relationship between dyad behavior and dyad physiological attunement as a whole was explored.

Accordingly, the first goal of the present study was to add support to the occurrence of mother-child physiological attunement in the face of challenge. In an attempt to replicate the findings of Sethre-Hofstad et al. (2002), the present study intended to demonstrate attunement as a function of mother's behavioral sensitivity. The second goal was to examine the role of child behavior in adrenocortical attunement by determining whether attunement varied as a function of child's behavioral sensitivity.

The third goal was to determine if, by simultaneously examining the behaviors of the mother and the child, a factor could be created that was more strongly correlated with degree of mother-child adrenocortical attunement than either mother's or child's behavior sensitivity alone.

It was hypothesized that: (1) attunement of mother and child adrenocortical levels would occur in response to a potentially challenging situation, such that matching responses would occur regardless of whether cortisol levels increased or decreased in response to the stressor, (2) adrenocortical attunement would be greater in dyads containing more behaviorally sensitive *mothers*, (3) adrenocortical attunement would be greater in dyads containing more behaviorally sensitive *children*, (4) a factor combined of both mother and child sensitive behaviors (e.g. behaviorally sensitive dyads) would be more strongly related to adrenocortical attunement than either mother behavioral sensitivity or child behavioral sensitivity alone.

Method

Participants

The participants in this study were drawn from the Concordia Longitudinal Risk Project. This large three generation research program began in Montreal, Quebec, Canada between the years of 1976-1978. This community-based sample involved over 4000 children (and their families) in grade 1, 4, or 7 at French-language public schools, serving economically disadvantaged urban neighborhoods. For a complete description of the original sample population and procedures, see Ledingham (1981) and Schwartzman, Ledingham & Serbin (1985).

Current Sample

Data for this study was collected between September, 1996 and April, 1998. Although both male and female original participants were contacted, all of the testing involved mother-child dyads and included a total of 75 mothers and their children. They were selected based on the appropriateness of their child's current age for the specific procedure. Only one child per family was included in the study and age of the child had to be within a pre-school range (approximately 12 to 72 months). The participants in the current study were Caucasian and francophone, living in the greater Montreal area. Mothers ranged in age from 20.73 to 35.91 years (M=30.84, SD 2.87). Reports of marital status and family composition indicate 13 (17.3%) participants were not married (single, separated, or divorced) and 62 (82.7%) were married or cohabitating. The 75 children included 37 females and 38 males. Females ranged in age from 1.3 to 6.06 years (M=4.27, SD=1.30) and males ranged in age from 2.59 to 6.12 years (M=4.76, SD=.95). The median family income was CND\$ 41,600 per year (range CND\$ 8,430-152,885; M=\$43,918). Level of mothers' education attainment ranged from 4 to 18 years with an average of 12.00 years. Eighteen participants had less than 11 years of schooling, the number of years needed to complete a high school degree in Quebec.

Salivary Cortisol Samples

Saliva samples were collected from both mother and child at three time points during the home visit: immediately prior to, during, and immediately after administration of an IQ test. However; in an attempt to replicate the findings of Sethre-Hofstad et al. (2002), only the first two cortisol samples were used in analyses. Collection time of each saliva sample was recorded. A strip of filter paper (65mm x 25mm) was placed under the participant's tongue and removed after it was saturated with saliva. The filter paper was

then air dried, placed in individual containers, and kept frozen at -20 degrees Celsius until assay. Saliva samples were assayed for cortisol at the Douglas Hospital Research Laboratories (DHRL). Cortisol levels were established using competitive protein binding radioimmunoassay (Krey et al., 1975).

Participants were able to schedule researchers' visits at their convenience; therefore, 48 children were tested in the morning (time of first sample M= 9:39am, SD= 20 minutes) and 25 were tested in the afternoon (time of first sample M= 1:44pm, SD= 36 minutes). Time of sampling was not recorded for three participants therefore the average time of sampling of the first and second saliva samples was used (first sample M=11:05; second sample M=11:49). Protocol instructed to collect the first sample after establishing rapport with the mother and child but before administration of a child intelligence test and to collect the second sample after IQ testing (approximately 30-60 minutes after collection of the first sample). However, some children were not able to complete the entire IQ test and others took longer than expected to finish therefore the time interval between the first and second saliva samples ranged from 16 minutes to 1 hour and 25 minutes (M=43 minutes, SD=12 minutes). Although timing of collection was variable, the sample represents the likely response of a young risk population to an "ecologically valid" procedure for salivary cortisol sampling and data collection.

Due to the nature of the research question, both partners of the mother-child dyad were required to produce a valid first and second saliva sample. Sixty-three mother-child dyads were able to meet this requirement. These dyads did not differ significantly from the full eligible sample (N=75) on any of the demographic measures or other study variables of interest. Analyses were conducted with the remaining 63 dyads.

Each member of the dyad provided two sequential salivary cortisol samples: one before administration of the IQ test to the child and one after the IQ test. As previously mentioned, the collection time of these samples somewhat differed due to individual variations in amount of time needed to complete the various components of the IQ test. The values of the children's first sample ranged from .01 to 1.87 (M=.38, SD=.43) and the values of the mothers' first samples also ranged from .01 to 2.37 (M=.38, SD=.50). The values of the children's second sample ranged from .01 to 2.01 (M=.38, SD=.44) whereas the values of the mothers' second samples varied slightly less, ranging from .01 to 1.32 (M=.30, SD=.30).

Procedure

Potential participants were contacted by telephone and, upon consenting to participation, the Demographic Information Questionnaire (DIQ; see Appendix A) was administered via phone. Two home visits, lasting approximately three hours each and separated by a week interval, were then scheduled. Home sessions included a child intellectual assessment, naturalistic observations, interviews, questionnaires and saliva sampling.

At the beginning of the first session, mothers were asked to read and sign a consent form (see Appendix B). Following this, a variety of mother-child interaction tasks were videotaped including the interactive free-play and interference task used for the purpose of the present study. This task involved two four-minute unstructured free play sessions separated by a three-minute interference task. During the interference task mothers were asked to fill out questionnaires and not directly attend to their child. If the

questionnaires were not fully completed in the first session, participants were allotted time to finish these measures during the second session.

Interactive free-play and interference task.

Before commencement of the free play and interference tasks, the examiner selected an appropriate room in the house and spread out a blanket (12.5 cm length x 16 cm width) on the floor. Specific toys, selected based on age-appropriateness and appeal, were spread out on the blanket in a standardized format. Participants were instructed to limit their activities to the blanketed area. A beeping timer indicated the start and end of each section of the task. During the free play sessions, mothers were instructed to interact with their children as they would typically at home whereas during the interference task mothers were instructed to fill out the questionnaire and not directly attend to their child. Upon completion of the three tasks mothers were asked to rate on a scale of one to four how natural their interactions with their child had felt (1=not at all natural, 4= very natural). Those who viewed their interaction as unnatural, rating it a 2 or below (n=1) repeated the interaction task at during the second visit. Interaction sessions were videotaped and later coded with the Emotional Availability Scales (Third Edition: Biringen, Robinson & Emde, 1998) to provide observational measures of maternal variables (support, stimulation, and hostility) as well as child variables (responsiveness and involvement).

The second visit involved administration of a child intelligence assessment and maternal interviews. One examiner conducted an age-appropriate cognitive assessment, either the Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scale (Fourth Edition: Thorndike, Hagan, & Sattler, 1986) or the Bayley Scales of Infant Development (Second Edition: Bayley, 1993), while

the other examiner administered a series of interviews and questionnaires to the mother assessing various aspects of her child's behavior, health, and temperament as well as her own parenting behaviors. Both mother and child were in the same room during the IQ testing and aware of the other's activities but focused on their own task. Additionally, participants provided saliva samples during this visit. See Appendix C for a complete protocol of both home visits.

Measures

All of the measures used in the current study were written or conducted in French.

Translated versions of English measures were used if original French versions were not available.

Socio-demographic information.

The Demographic Information Questionnaire was administered during the initial telephone conversation upon consent of participation.

Child's cognitive abilities.

Child intelligence was measured either by the *Bayley Scales of Infant*Development (Second Edition, Bayley, 1993) (N=7) or the Stanford Binet Intelligence

Scale, Fourth Edition (SB IV: Thorndike et al., 1986) (N=56) depending on the age of the child. To standardize the measures, child IQ scores were transformed into z-scores.

Scores ranged from -0.382 to 2.49 (M=0.09, SD=1.06). Both IQ instruments are well-standardized; however the Stanford-Binet subtest measuring memory for sentences was eliminated in calculating the total IQ score due to overall weak performance which was likely attributable to penalization for responding in Quebecois phrases to a Parisian French test.

Behavioral sensitivity.

The Emotional Availability Scales (Biringen et al., 1998) are global rating scales designed to assess the quality of caregiver-child interactions, with an emphasis on the affective side of sensitive responsiveness. The scales are organized into three dimensions for the mother and two dimensions for the child, all measuring a various aspects of emotional availability.

The maternal dimensions include: 1) maternal sensitivity- quantifies mother's ability to be emotionally responsive toward her child (1= insensitive, 9= highly sensitive); 2) maternal structuring/intrusiveness- measures the degree to which mother appropriately guides and sets limits to her child's behaviour (1= none, 7= optimal, 9= overly high); and 3) maternal covert and overt hostility- measures the degree to which mother's behaviour is aggressive, insensitive, or unreceptive (i.e.: overt hostility-irritated/annoyed vocalizations; covert hostility- impatient behaviour) (1= not hostile, 5= overly hostile).

Child dimensions include: 1) child responsiveness- measures the degree to which the child responds to the mother's attempts to engage the child and pleasure child derives from the subsequent interaction (1= unresponsive, 7= optimal, 9= overly responsive); and 2) child involvement- measures the degree to which the child attempts to engage the mother in interactions (1= uninvolving, 7= optimal, 9= overly involving). These scales assess mother-child behaviours in an interactional situation and together are used to quantify the trait of emotional availability in both the mother and child. Coders demonstrated excellent inter-rater reliability on all subscales, with correlations ranging from .84 to .99.

Mother's and child's scales were recoded so behaviors were rated on a continuum ranging from least optimal to most optimal. For example, on the mother's subscale measuring structuring/intrusiveness, a score of 7 indicated optimal level of structuring and scores of 8 and 9 were considered to represent too much structuring or intrusiveness on the mother's behalf. Scores of 8 and 9 were recoded as 6 and 5 respectively to create a 7-point scale ranging from least optimal to most optimal levels of structuring. The recoded subscales were used in all further analyses.

Data Reduction

Maternal behavioral sensitivity.

Three measures of maternal behavior (sensitivity, structuring/intrusiveness and hostility) were coded using the Emotional Availability Scales (Biringen et al., 1998) while the dyads were engaging in free play activity. In order to create a variable that best captured mother's affect and behaviors toward her child during the interactive free-play activity, the three sub-scales were examined in a factor analysis. When examining the correlations among sub-scales, the correlations involving the subscale of maternal hostility [maternal hostility and maternal sensitivity (r(63)=.612, p<.001); maternal hostility and maternal structuring/intrusiveness (r(63)=.532, p<.001)] were lower than the correlation between maternal sensitivity and maternal structuring/intrusiveness (r(63)=.767, p<.001). Additionally a principal component factor analysis revealed that the subscale of maternal hostility had the weakest factor loading of the three subscales [maternal sensitivity=.918; maternal structuring/ intrusiveness=.886; maternal hostility=.807]. The correlations and loadings involving the maternal hostility subscale were the lowest of comparable results and therefore it was removed from further analyses. Further

support for the exclusion of the hostility subscale is reported below. The resulting factor representing level of maternal behavioral sensitivity was comprised of the subscales "maternal sensitivity" and "maternal structuring/ intrusiveness".

Child behavioral sensitivity.

Two measures of child behavior (responsiveness and involvement) were coded using the Emotional Availability Scales (Biringen et al., 1998). A principle component factor analysis revealed that both subscales loaded on the same component (child responsiveness= .919; child involvement= .919), suggesting that both sub-scales measure a similar construct and should be combined for subsequent analyses. The resulting factor representing level of child behavioral sensitivity was comprised of the subscales "child responsiveness" and "child involvement".

Dyadic behavioral sensitivity.

A factor containing information pertaining to mother behavior and child behavior may provide a clearer picture of the interaction displayed by the dyads. To examine this possibility, all of the Emotional Availability subscales were examined in a correlation matrix. This analysis revealed that maternal hostility subscale was not significantly related to the child involvement subscale (r(63)=.19, p=n.s.). This finding suggests that these two subscales do not measure the same construct and should not be combined together. Furthermore, a principal component factor analysis of all the subscales revealed that the subscale of maternal hostility had the weakest factor loading of the five subscales [maternal sensitivity= .838; maternal structuring/intrusiveness=.691; maternal hostility= .444; child responsiveness=.676; child involvement=.515], therefore the maternal hostility subscale was removed from further analyses. The resulting factor representing

the level of dyadic behavioral sensitivity was comprised of the mother subscales of "sensitivity" and "structuring/ intrusiveness" as well as the child subscales of "responsiveness" and "involvement".

Adrenocortical function.

Due to individual variability, the cortisol scores of both mother and child were skewed. After ensuring differences between samples were an accurate reflection of the HPA axis and not due to laboratory error or contamination, all outliers more than three standard deviations above the mean were reduced to half a standard deviation above the next highest participant for the appropriate time of sampling and respective category (e.g. mother or child). This has been shown to be an appropriate means of normalizing the distribution of data and controlling for outliers in skewed data sets (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001). In order to quantify the adrenocortical responses evoked by the IQ task, difference scores (post-IQ test minus pre-IQ test) were computed for both mother and child. The resulting scores were an indication of cortisol reactivity to the IQ test. Positive reactivity scores indicated increases in cortisol and negative reactivity scores indicated decreases in cortisol.

Results

Preliminary Analyses

Relations between demographic variables and outcome variables. In order to examine the effect of any demographic variables on raw cortisol or sensitivity variables, bivariate correlations were conducted. These examined the relations between six demographic variables- mother's level of education, marital status, family income, age of child, sex of child, and child IQ and the five study variables- mother's cortisol reactivity

score, child's reactivity score, mother's behavioral sensitivity, child's behavioral sensitivity and dyad's behavioral sensitivity. Family income was significantly related to

Insert Table 1 about here

mother's behavioral sensitivity (r=.35, p<.01), child's behavioral sensitivity (r=.29, p<.05), and dyadic behavioral sensitivity (r=.35, p<.01). Additionally, child IQ was significantly correlated with child's behavioral sensitivity (r=.29, p<.05). There were no other significant associations between the demographic variables and the study variables of interest.

Individual reactivity. To examine if amount of change in cortisol reactivity was influenced by the initial cortisol level of the individual, correlations between baseline and amount of change was calculated separately for both mothers and children. Difference scores were created by subtracting each individual's cortisol sample time 2 scores from his or her cortisol sample time 1 scores. These difference scores were then correlated with baseline scores. Child's amount of change in cortisol was highly correlated to both their own baseline cortisol level (r=.59, p<.001) and mother's baseline cortisol (r=.56, p<.001). Mother's amount of change in cortisol was also highly correlated with their own baseline cortisol (r=.84, p<.001) as well as significantly correlated, but to a lesser degree, with child's baseline cortisol (r=.28, p<.05). Mother's and child's amount of change scores were also correlated (r=.29, p<.05).

Effects of time of testing. Additional preliminary analyses were performed to examine if time of testing influenced cortisol time 1, time 2 or reactivity scores. First, no

association was found between any variable related to time (i.e. time of sampling, sampling in afternoon or morning, and time between samples) and the level of cortisol, either in the first or second sample or reactivity scores, for either child or mother.

Insert Table 2 about here

Furthermore, no relationship was found between time of day and behavioral sensitivity for mothers, children or dyads. Thus, any differences in cortisol between maternal

Insert Table 3 about here

sensitivity groups, child sensitivity groups and dyad sensitivity groups could not be due to time of sampling. Due to the lack of any relationship between time of sampling, cortisol levels or sensitivity group, time of sampling variable was not used as a covariate in subsequent analyses.

Main Analyses

Mother-child cortisol attunement. The first hypothesis was that attunement of mother and child adrenocortical level would occur in response to a potentially challenging situation. It was expected that attuned responses would occur regardless of whether cortisol levels increased or decreased in response to the stressor. Mother-child cortisol attunement was determined to have occurred if a significant correlation existed between mother and child cortisol reactivity scores. Mothers' cortisol reactivity scores and children's cortisol reactivity scores were significantly correlated (r(63)=.26, p<.05).

Mothers' behavioral sensitivity and mother-child cortisol attunement. The second hypothesis was that adrenocortical attunement would be greater in dyads containing more behaviorally sensitive mothers. The effect of family income was controlled when examining this relation as it was related to the combined variable of mother's behavioral sensitivity (r(63)=.35, p<0.01). A factor representing mother's overall behavioral sensitivity towards her child was derived by combining mothers' sensitivity and structuring/intrusiveness subscales. A z-score indicating mother's level of behavioral sensitivity in relation to mother mothers was created for each dyad. Dyads were assigned to either a "high maternal sensitivity" group or a "low maternal sensitivity" group by a median split. When examining the relationship between motherchild cortisol attunement for dyads in the low sensitivity group (n=31), the correlation between mother and child's amount of cortisol change was non-significant (r(28)=.06, p=n.s.). When examining the relationship between mother-child cortisol attunement for dyads in the high sensitivity group (n=33), the correlation between mothers' and children's amount of cortisol change was significant (r(29)=.38, p<.05). In other words, the hypothesis of mother-child adrenocortical attunement in response to a potentially challenging situation was supported by these analyses as was the hypothesis that adrenocortical attunement would be greater in dyads containing more behaviorally sensitive mothers.

<u>Children's behavioral sensitivity and mother-child cortisol attunement</u>. The third hypothesis was that adrenocortical attunement would be greater in dyads containing more behaviorally sensitive children. It was expected that attuned responses would occur regardless of whether cortisol levels increased or decreased in response to the stressor.

The effect of family income was controlled when examining this relation as it was related to the combined variable of child's behavioral sensitivity (r(63)=.29, p<0.05). Child's overall measure of sensitivity was derived by combining the child subscales of responsiveness and involvement. A z-score was then created by combining the scores of these subscales for each child. Dyads were assigned to either a "high child sensitivity" group or a "low child sensitivity" group by a median split.

When examining the relation between mother-child cortisol attunement for dyads in the low child sensitivity group (n=28), the correlation between mother and child amount of cortisol change was non-significant (r(25)=.09, p=n.s.). When examining the relation between mother-child cortisol attunement for children in the high sensitivity group (n=35), however, the correlation between mothers' and children's amount of cortisol change was significant (r(32)=.37, p<.05). Child sensitive behavior was significantly correlated with child IQ (r(63)=.29, p<.05). After controlling for family income and child IQ, analyses produced results similar to those when only family income was controlled for in both the low and high child behavioral sensitivity groups (r(23)=.09, p=n.s.; r(31)=.38, p<.05, respectively). These analyses confirmed the original predictions that adrenocortical attunement would also be greater in dyads containing more behaviorally sensitive children.

Dyad's behavioral synchrony and mother-child cortisol attunement. The final hypothesis concerned the relation between dyadic behavioral sensitivity and mother-child adrenocortical attunement. It was predicted that a factor combined of both mother and child sensitive behaviors (e.g. dyadic behavioral sensitivity) would be more strongly related to adrenocortical attunement than either mother behavioral sensitivity or child

behavioral sensitivity alone. The effect of income was controlled when examining this relation as it was related to dyad's level of behavioral sensitivity (r(63)=.36, p<0.01). Dyad's overall measure of sensitivity was derived by combining the subscales pertaining to maternal sensitivity and structuring/intrusiveness with child subscales of responsiveness and involvement. A z-score was then created by combining the scores of these subscales for each dyad. Dyads were assigned to either a "high dyadic sensitivity" group or a "low dyadic sensitivity" group by a median split. When examining the relationship between mother-child cortisol attunement for dyads in the low dyadic sensitivity group (n=31), the correlation between mothers' and children's amount of cortisol change was insignificant (r(28)=.03, p=n.s.). When examining the relationship between mother-child cortisol attunement for mothers in the high dyadic sensitivity group (n=32), the correlation between mothers' and children's amount of cortisol change was significant (r(29)=.46, p<.01).

The final hypothesis, that dyadic sensitivity would be more highly correlated with cortisol change synchrony more than either mother sensitivity or child sensitivity alone, appears to be supported by these results. The magnitude of the correlations between behavioral sensitivity and adrenocortical attunement by group is as follows: mothers high in behavioral sensitivity: r(29)=.38, p<.05, children high in behavioral sensitivity: r(32)=.37, p<.05; dyads high in behavioral sensitivity: r(29)=.46, p<.01. To examine if the dyadic variable accounted for significantly more variance than either individual measure alone, a Fisher's r to z transformation was conducted. The group of mothers high in sensitivity account for 16% of the total variance in cortisol attunement and the group of children high in sensitivity accounts for 15% percent of the total variance

whereas when we examine sensitivity level in both the mothers and the children we find that dyads rated as being high in sensitivity account for 25% of the total variance in cortisol attunement. Although the differences between the groups are not significant, the amount of variance accounted for by each group varies when examining the individual groups compared to the dyad group. These findings indicate that mother and child each contribute substantially to the factor. Additionally, the coefficient representing the correlation between adrenocortical attunement and behavioral sensitivity is larger than the coefficient representing this relation for either mothers or children alone which partially supports the hypothesis that the factor combined of mother and child behaviors is a stronger predictor of adrenocortical attunement than the behavior either mother or child alone.

Discussion

The results from this study support the notion of adrenocortical attunement between mother and child in response to a potentially challenging situation.

Adrenocortical attunement was associated with differences in sensitivity in mother, child and dyad measures of behavioral sensitivity. Dyads with at least one member high in behavioral sensitivity demonstrated more physiological attunement suggesting that dyads high in sensitivity are not only more behaviorally synchronized but also display a level of physiological synchrony not demonstrated by less sensitive dyads.

Adrenocortical attunement varied as a function of mother's level of behavioral sensitivity suggesting that sensitive mothers are more behaviorally and physiologically synchronized with their child. Furthermore, this association was also found when examining the relation between adrenocortical attunement and child's behavioral

sensitivity. This suggests that the child plays an equally important role in achieving and maintaining behavioral and physiological synchrony as the mother. Sethre-Hofstad et al. (2002) give three possible explanations regarding the mechanisms involved in adrenocortical attunement: 1) being sensitive allowed mothers to perceive their child's signals correctly and then empathize; 2) all mothers perceived their child's signals correctly but only the physiology of the sensitive mothers was affected; and 3) less sensitive mothers are less able to perceive their child's signals and thus their physiology was not affected. Similar explanations could also be argued for sensitive and less sensitive children in response to the anxiety felt by their mother regarding their performance on the IQ test. Two additional explanations may account for these findings. The first is that mothers of reactive children may worry more or, alternately, reactive mothers raise children who are hyperaware of their surroundings. The second involves the possibility of a genetic or temperamental influence, more specifically, it is possible that mothers are biologically disposed to react to stressors in a certain manner and this biological trait is then passed on to their child.

Importantly it should be noted that, the combined factor of dyadic behavioral sensitivity was more highly correlated with adrenocortical attunement that either mother's or child's independent measure of behavioral sensitivity. That is, when mother's and child's behavioral sensitivity measures were combined to represent the dyad's behavioral sensitivity, this factor was more highly correlated with physiological attunement than either mother's or child's behavioral sensitivity alone. This suggests that mother and child both add their unique characteristics to the dyadic measure of behavioral sensitivity. Similar results have been found in more recent research on

mother-child dyads (for a review see Field, 1994). These studies strongly encourage studying both partners' behaviors simultaneously in order to fully understand dynamic interactions.

The present findings can be used to better understand the parent-child relationship. Children who are less behaviorally and physiologically attuned to their parents may not be able to effectively communicate the level of help they need in various situations. Similarly, parents who are not attuned with their child may not be able to demonstrate proper coping mechanisms to teach their child how to deal with stressful situations (Sethre-Hofstad et al., 2002). Failure to effectively deal with the stressor may lead to surges in child adrenocortical levels and ineffective, or even harmful, coping mechanisms (i.e. withdrawal and aggression). These ineffective coping mechanisms may evoke maladaptive parental responses (i.e. anger and aggression) which may induce more stress in both parent and child. Additionally, lack of attunement may cause the parent to perceive the child to be stressed even though he or she is not. This would lead the parent to offer unnecessary help which may prove to be frustrating to the child and increase levels of stress. Furthermore, the implications of these findings may be considered in parenting intervention programs that often focus on changing parental behaviors and neglect to consider the role of the child. By demonstrating the equally important role of the child's behavior, it elucidates the need to examine both partners' actions when dealing with parent-child dyads. Future parenting interventions may need to involve both child and parent in order to be optimally effective.

Limitations

The main limitation of this study is regarding the sampling of cortisol. First, time of sampling was not held constant for all dyads. Diurnal cortisol (the naturally occurring amount of cortisol in an individual's body) demonstrates a circadian rhythm, characterized by peak levels shortly after awakening and then decreasing throughout the course of the day. While it is possible that this pattern of secretion may have influenced reactive cortisol levels, no association was found between time of day and cortisol level for either sample one or two for mother or child. Second, there was no record or control for time of awakening which influences the circadian release of cortisol (Sapolsky, 1992). Third, samples were not collected at equal time intervals throughout the administration of the IQ test due to the individual variability in completion of the subtests. Although sampling was not standardized, time of day and time between samples was not significantly correlated with cortisol levels. Furthermore, imposing multiple time constraints would certainly increase the response burden (and likely attrition) within this type of socially and behaviorally diverse sample of families with young children.

Another limitation is the small sample size of this study. While the main hypotheses were supported by the data, no significant differences were found when comparing the amount of variance accounted for in individual versus dyad sensitive behavior. It is possible that this comparison would have been significant if the study had more participants. Consequently, results need to be replicated with a much larger sample size.

The age range of the current study is a potential limitation as it spans more than one developmental period. Due to the large age range, findings do not provide information regarding the developmental period in which attunement of physiological

synchrony may begin or if there is a peak in such attunement during a specific developmental period. Studies wishing to address these questions would require examination of both younger and older children within more restrictive age ranges.

The final limitation concerns the methodology of the current study. In order to examine the relationship between and attunement mother, child and dyad measures of sensitivity were divided into high and low groups by a median split. By splitting these variables into groups, the data is not utilized to its full extent and it may be a contributing factor to lack of significant correlations therefore in the future measures of sensitivity should be examined as continuous variables.

Concluding Comments and Future Directions

In conclusion this study supported the notion of adrenocortical attunement in mother-child dyads by replicating previous findings (Sethre-Hofstad et al., 2002) as well as extended the literature in this area by examining behavioral sensitivity in both partners separately and then as combined in the dyad. The association between mother's level of sensitivity and dyadic outcomes, such as attachment, has been well-established in previous literature (Bowlby, 1969; De Wolff & van IJzendoorn, 1997; NICHD Early Child Care research Network, 2006; Pederson & Moran, 1995); however the association between child's level of sensitivity and dyadic outcomes has been less thoroughly examined. Demonstrating that both child behaviors and mother's behaviors are equally related to adrenocortical attunement illustrates the important role assumed by the child in mother-child interactions. While one may interpret the present findings as behavior influencing physiology, it is possible that reacting in a certain physiological manner influences subsequent behavior. Future studies should attempt to determine if one

mechanism is primarily influencing the other or if the effect is interactional.

Furthermore, the benefits of physiological attunement between mother-child dyads remain to be established. Future studies examining physiological attunement in mother-child dyads should seek to determine outcomes predicted by level of attunement in various cognitive and social domains as physiological attunement may be associated with mother's teaching and child's learning abilities. Additionally, attunement between mother and child may not always be beneficial such that if one partner of the dyad is psychologically unwell (i.e. suffering from depression), it may be advantageous for the other partner to not be attuned behaviorally or physiologically. Future studies should examine behavioral and physiological attunement in relation to well-being in diverse populations to investigate this possibility.

References

- Ashman, S.B., Dawson, G., Panagiotides, H., Yamada, E., & Wilkinson, C.W. (2002).

 Stress hormone levels of children of depressed mothers. *Development and Psychopathology*, 14, 333-349.
- Bayley, N. (1993). *Bayley scales of infant development*, 2nd Ed. San Antonio: The Psychological Corporation.
- Beckwith, L., Rodning, C., Cohen, S. (1992). Preterm children at early adolescence and continuity and discontinuity in maternal responsiveness from infancy. *Child Development*, 63, 1198-1208.
- Ben-Dat Fisher, D., Serbin, L.A., Stack, D.M., Ruttle, P.L., Ledingham, J.E. & Schwartzman, A.E. (2007). Intergenerational predictors of diurnal cortisol secretion in early childhood. *Infant and Child Development*, 16, 151-170.
- Berlin, L.J., Cassidy, J., & Belsky, J. (1995). Loneliness in young children and infant-mother attachment: A longitudinal study. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 41, 91-103.
- Biringen, Z. Robinson, J. & Emde, R.N. (1998). Emotional Availability Sales (3rd ed.).

 Department of Human Development and Family Studies, Colorado State

 University, Ft. Collins.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss (Vol. 1). Attachment. New York: Basic Books.
- Braungart-Rieker, J.M., Garwood, M.M., Powers, B.P. & Wang, X. (2001). Parental sensitivity, infant affect, and affect regulation: Predictors of later attachment.

 Child Development, 72, 252-270.

- Calkins, S.D. (1994). Origins and outcomes of individual differences in emotion regulation. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 59, 53-72.
- Carlson, M. & Earls, F. (1997). Psychological and neuroendocrinological sequelae of early social deprivation in institutionalized children in Romania. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 807, 419-428.
- Carpenter, M., Nagell, K. & Tomasello, M. (1998). Social cognition, joint attention, and communicative competence from 9 to 15 months of age. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 63, 1-174.
- Champoux, M. Bryne, E., DeLizio, R. & Suomi, S.J. (1992). Motherless mothers revisited: Rhesus maternal behavior and rearing history. *Primates*, *33*, 251-255.
- Champoux, M. & Suomi, S.J. (1994). Behavioral and adrenocortical responses of rhesus macaque mothers to infant separation in an unfamiliar environment. *Primates*, 35, 191-202.
- Cicchetti, D. & Rogosch, F.A. (2001). Diverse patterns of neuroendocrine activity in maltreated children. *Development and Psychopathology*, 13, 677-693.
- Coe, C.L., Mendoza, S.P., Smotherman, W.P. & Levine, S. (1978). Mother-infant attachment in the squirrel monkey: Adrenal response to separation. *Behavioral and Neural Biology*, 22, 256-263.
- Criss, M.M., Shaw, D.S. & Ingoldsby, E.M. (2003). Mother-son positive synchrony in middle childhood: Relation to antisocial behavior. *Social Development*, 12, 379-400.

- Crockenberg, S.C., Leerkes, E.M.. Lekka, S.K. (2007). Pathways from marital aggression to infant emotion regulation: The development of withdrawal in infancy. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 30, 97-113.
- De Wolf, M. & van IJzendoorn, M.H. (1997). Sensitivity and attachment: A metaanalysis on parental antecedents of infant attachment. *Child Development*, 68, 571-591.
- Diener, M.L., Nievar, M.A. & Wright, C. (2003). Attachment security among mothers and their young children living in poverty: Associations with maternal, child, and contextual characteristics. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 49, 154-182.
- Donovan, W.L. & Leavitt, L.A. (1978). Early cognitive development and its relation to maternal physiologic and behavioral responsiveness. *Child Development*, 49, 1251-1254.
- Feldman, R. (2007). Parent-infant synchrony and the construction of shared timing; physiological precursors, developmental outcomes, and risk conditions. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 48, 329-354.
- Feldman, R., Eidelman, A.I., & Rotenberg, N. (2004). Parenting stress, infant emotion regulation, maternal sensitivity and the cognitive development of triplets: A model for parent and child influences in a unique ecology. *Child Development*, 75, 1774-1791.
- Field, T. (1994). The effects of mother's physical and emotional unavailability on emotion regulation. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 59, 284-303.

- Fisher, P.A., Gunnar, M.R., Chamberlain, P., & Reid, J.B. (2000). Preventative intervention for maltreated preschool children: impact on children's behavior, neuroendocrine activity, and foster parent functioning. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39, 1356-1364.
- Fletcher, K.L., Perez, A., Hooper, C. & Claussen, A.H. (2005). Responsiveness and attention during picture-book reading in 18-month to 24-month-old toddlers at risk. *Early Child Development and Care*, 175, 63-81.
- Frodi, A. M. & Lamb, M.E. (1980). Child abusers' responses to infant smiles and cries.

 Child Development, 51, 238-241.
- Glaser, D. (2000). Child abuse and neglect and the brain- A review. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 41, 97-116.
- Gross, D. (1983). How some dyads "fail": A qualitative analysis with implications for nursing practice. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 4, 272-286.
- Gunnar, M.R., Larson, M.C., Hertsgaard, L., Harris, M.L., & Broderson, L. (1992). The stressfulness of separation among nine-month-old infants: effects of social context variables and infant temperament. *Child Development*, 63, 290-303.
- Gunnar, M.R., Morison, S.J., Chisholm, K., & Schuder, M. (2001). Salivary cortisol levels in children adopted from Romanian orphanages. *Developmental Psychopathology*, 13, 611-628.
- Hart, J., Gunnar, M.R., & Cicchetti, D. (1996). Altered neuroendocrine activity in maltreated children related to symptoms of depression. *Development and Psychopathology*, 8, 201-214.

- Hertsgaard, L., Gunnar, M., Farrell Erikson, M., & Nachmias, M. (1995). Adrenocortical responses to the Strange Situation in infants with disorganized/disoriented attachment relationships. *Child Development*, 66, 1100-1106.
- Isabella, R.A. & Belsky, J. (1991). Interactional synchrony and the origins of infant-mother attachment: A replication study. *Child Development*, 62, 373-384.
- Isabella, R.A., Belsky, J. & von Eye, A. (1989). Origins of infant-mother attachment: An examination of interactional synchrony during the infant's first year.

 *Developmental Psychology, 25, 12-21.
- Kaufman, J. (1991). Depressive disorders in maltreated children. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30, 257-265.
- Kaye, K. & Charney, R. (1980). How mothers maintain "dialogue" with two-year olds.In D. Olsen (Ed.), *The social foundations of language and thought* (pp.211-230).New York: Norton.
- Kochanska, G., Forman, D.R., Coy, K.C. (1999). Implications of the mother-child relationship in infancy socialization in the second year of life. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 27, 249-265.
- Krey, L.C., Lu, K.H., Butler, W.R., Hotchkiss, J., Pive, F. & Knobil, E. (1975). Surgical disconnection of the medial basal hypothalamus and pituitary function in the rhesus monkey. *Endocrinology*, *96*, 1088-1093.
- Ledingham, J.E. (1981). Developmental patterns of aggressive and withdrawn behaviour in childhood: A possible method for identifying preschizophrenics. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 9, 1-22.

- Maccoby, E.E. (1983). Let's not overattribute to the attribution process: Commetns on social cognition and behaviour. In E.T. Higgins, D.N. Ruble & W.W. Hartup (Eds.), *Social cognition and social development: A sociological perspective* (pp.356-370). Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Maccoby, E.E. & Martin, J.A. (1983). Socialization in the context of the family: Parent-child interaction. In P.H. Mussen (series Ed.), E.M. Hertherington (Vol. Ed.),

 Handbook of child psychology: Vol.4. Socialization, personality and social

 development (4th ed., pp.1-102). New York: Wiley.
- Murray, L., Fiori-Cowley, A., Hooper, R. & Cooper, P. (1996). The impact of postnatal depression and associated adversity on early mother-infant interactions and later infant outcomes. *Child Development*, 67, 2512-2526.
- NICHD Early Child Care Research Network (2006). Infant-mother attachment classification: Risk and protection in relation to changing maternal caregiving quality. *Developmental Psychology*, 42, 38-58.
- Ostfeld, B.M., Smith, R.H., Hiatt, M., & Hegyi, T. (2000). Maternal behaviour toward premature twins: implications for development. *Twin Research: The official journal of the International Society for Twin Studies*, 3, 234-241.
- Parke, R.D. & Collmer, C.W. (1975). Child abuse: An interdisciplinary analysis. In E.M. Hetherington (Ed.), *Review of child development research*. Oxford, England: U Chicago Press.
- Pederson, D.R. & Moran, G. (1995). A categorical description of infant-mother relationships in the home and its relation to Q-sort measures of infant-mother

- interaction. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 60 (2-3), 11-132.
- Raver, C.C (1996). Relations between social contingency in mother-child interaction and 2-year-olds' social competence. *Developmental Psychology*, 32, 850-859.
- Rocissano, L., Slade, A. & Lynch, V. (1987). Dyadic synchrony and toddler compliance.

 *Developmental Psychology, 23, 698-704.
- Sameroff, A.J. (1983). Developmental systems: Contexts and evolution. In W. Kessen (Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol.1. History, theories, and methods* (pp. 238-294). New York: Wiley.
- Sameroff, A.J. (1993). Models of development and developmental risk. In C.H. Zeanah, Jr. (Ed.), *Handbook of infant mental health* (pp.3-13). New York: Guilford Press.
- Sapolsky, R.M. (1992). Neuroendocrinology of the stress response. In J.B. Becker, S.M. Breedlove, & D. Crews (Eds.), *Behavioral Endocrinology*. NY: MIT Press.
- Schaffer, H.R. & Crook, C.K. (1979). Maternal control techniques in a directed play situation. *Child Development*, 50, 989-996.
- Schaffer, H.R. & Crook, C.K. (1980). Child compliance and maternal control techniques.

 *Developmental Psychology, 16, 54-61.
- Schieche, M. & Spangler, G. (2005). Individual differences in biobehavioral organization during problem-solving in toddlers: the influence of maternal behaviour, infant-mother attachment, and behavioural inhibition on the attachment-exploration balance. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 46, 293-306.

- Schwartzman, A.E., Ledingham, J. & Serbin, L.A. (1985). Identification of children at risk for adult schizophrenia: A longitudinal study. *International Journal of Applied Psychology*, 34, 363-380.
- Sethre-Hofstad, L. Stansbury, K. & Rice, M.A. (2002). Attunement of maternal and child adrenocortical response to child challenge. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 27, 731-747.
- Shaw, D.S., Keenan, K., Vondra, J.I. (1994). Developmental precursors of externalizing behaviour: Ages 1 to 3. *Developmental Psychopathology*, 30, 355-364.
- Shin, H., Park, Y. & Kim, M.J. (2006). Predictors of maternal sensitivity during the early postpartum period. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 55, 425-434.
- Skuban, E.M., Shaw, D.S., Gardner, F., Supplee, L.H. & Nichols, S.R. (2006). The correlates of dyadic synchrony in high-risk, low-income toddler boys. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 29, 423-434.
- Smotherman, W.P., Brown, C.P. & Levin, S. (1977). Maternal responsiveness following differential pup treatment and mother-pup interactions. *Hormones and Behavior*, 8, 242-253.
- Spangler, G. & Schieche, M. (1998). Emotional and adrenocortical responses of infants to the Strange Situation: The differential function of emotional expression.

 International Journal of Behavioral Development, 22, 681-706.
- Spangler, G., Schieche, M., Ilg, U., Maier, U., & Ackermann, C. (1994). Maternal sensitivity as an external organizer for biobehavioral regulation in infancy.

 *Developmental Psychobiology, 27, 425-437.

- Stams, G.J.M., Juffer, F., van IJzendoorn, M.H. (2002). Maternal sensitivity, infant attachment, and temperament in early childhood predict adjustment in middle childhood: The case of adopted children and their biologically unrelated parents.

 *Developmental Psychology, 35, 806-821.
- Stansbury, K. & Gunnar, M.R. (1994). Adrenocortical activity and emotion regulation.

 Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 59, 108-134.
- Stanton, M.E. & Levine, S. (1985). Brief separation elevates cortisol in mother and infant squirrel monkeys. *Physiology and Behavior*, 34, 1007-1008.
- Stanton, M.E. & Levine, S. (1990). Inhibition of infant glucocorticoid stress response: Specific role of maternal cues. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 23, 411-426.
- Stern, D. (1977). *The First Relationship: Infant and Mother*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Tabachnick, B.G. & Fidell, L.S. (2001). *Using multivariate statistics (4th ed.)*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Thompson, R.A. (1994). Emotion regulation: A theme in search of a definition.

 Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 59, 25-52.
- Thorndike, R., Hagen, E. & Sattler, J. (1986). *The Stanford Binet IV: Technical Manual*. Chicago: Riverside.
- Tomasello, M. (1995). Joint attention as social cognition. In C. Moore & P.J. Dunham (Eds.), *Joint attention: Its origins and role in development* (pp.103-130). Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Tomasello, M. & Farrar, M.J. (1986). Joint attention and early language. *Child Development*, 57, 1454-1463.

- Tronick, E.Z. (1980). On the primacy of social skills. In D.B. Swain, L.O. Walker & J.H. Penticuff (Eds.), *The exceptional infant: Vol. 4. Psychosocial risks in infant-environment transactions* (pp.144-158). New York: Bruner Mazel.
- van IJzendoorn, M.H., Dijkstra, J., & Bus, A.G. (1995). Attachment, intelligence, and language: A meta-analysis. *Social Development*, 4, 115-128.
- Vogt, J.L. & Levine, S. (1980). Response of mother and infant squirrel monkeys to separation and disturbance. *Physiology and Behavior*, 24, 829-832.

Table 1. Correlations between the variables in the model (N=63)

			•								
	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.
1. Mother's	1.00	.63**	.93**	.00	.35**	.06	.09	06	.02	.09	07
behavioral											
sensitivity											
2. Child's		1.00	.84**	.11	.29*	.17	.22	.03	.29*	.00	05
behavioral											
sensitivity											
3. Dyadic			1.00	.08	.35**	.07	.15	02	.16	.07	07
behavioral											
sensitivity											
4. Mother's				1.00	.34**	.01	10	01	.13	.02	01
education											
(years)											
5. Family					1.00	.36**	.04	15	.16	.11	14
income											
6. Marital						1.00	.38**	18	.06	.22	05
status											
7.Sex of							1.00	25*	.06	01	19
child								1.00		0.0	4.4
8. Age of								1.00	.15	03	.11
child									1.00	10	02
9. Child IQ 10. Child									1.00	10	.02
cortisol										1.00	.26*
reactivity											
11. Mother											1.00
cortisol											1.00
reactivity											
* = n < 05	**	< 01	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	····							

^{* =} p < .05, ** = p < .01

Table 2.

Correlations Among Time and Cortisol Variables (N=63)

	Time 1	Time 2	Time between Samples	Tested in Morning or Afternoon
Mother Time 1 Cortisol	07	06	.10	06
Mother Time 2 Cortisol	15	16	12	12
Child Time 1 Cortisol	09	09	02	03
Child Time 2 Cortisol	.02	.01	06	.07
Child cortisol reactivity	.09	.09	04	.09
Mother cortisol reactivity	21	04	21	02

Note: correlations did not reach significance level of .10

	Time 1	Time 2	Time between Samples	Tested in Morning or Afternoon
Mother Behavioral Sensitivity	12	11	.02	10
Child Behavioral Sensitivity	01	01	03	.00
Dyad Behavioral Sensitivity	08	08	01	06

Note: correlations did not reach significance level of .10

Appendix A

Demographic Information Questionnaire (DIQ)

Nº d'identification	
Date:	

L'INDIVIDU DANS SON MILIEU

Renseignements sociodémographiques

Tous ces renseignements sont traités de façon totalement confidentielle

	1 ous ce	s i clisc	ignen	iiciits soiit ti a	ics ut ray	on to	taicii	icht C	UIIII	CHUCH
1.	Sexe	□ M	☐ F	7		A D.T	140	Ϋ́D		
2.	Âge	_ ans	D	ate de naissan	ce .	AN	MO —	JK	_	
3.	a a constant of the constant o	nariées.	Il s'agi	e deux personnes it de ton état actu tu vis avec un(e	iel; même s	i tu es	légale	ment d	ivorcé	(e) ou
	□ Célibataire			Conjoint de f	ait		D			4.1.0
	□ Marié(e)			Séparé(e)			·	uis qu		
	□ Divorcé(e)			Veuf/veuve				·— —	MO 	JR
(Si	"EA" si 3 -Indiquer si l' 4 -Inscrire l'ann ou une é tu as plus de quatre e	om, le se E" si c'e l'enfant c'est un Si "TE" enfant v ée scole école sp nfants, j	est ton t du co e enfan et "Evit ave aire (s éciale pourra	enfant (tu es lonjoint (le connt adopté /"FAC" sont vrais, et toi, OUI ou in applicable) a et.	e parent b joint actue " en foyer encercler l NON ou insi que si	el est le d'acceles de GP (glich le	ique) le parc cueil e ux. carde p ant fré	t qui vo partagi équent ne feui	ologiq vit che ée) te une ille sé j	classe
	1				SEXE M			AN ——		JK
L'e	nfant est: TE EC	E EA	/FA	Vit avec toi:	OUI 🗆	NO	N 🗆	G	P 🗆	
An	née scolaire:		(Classe spéciale	e:					

2	NOM		SEXE		AN	MO JR
L'enfant est:	TE EC	EA/FA	Vit avec toi:	OUI 🗆	NON 🗆	GP □
Année scolai	re:		Classe spéciale	<u></u>	-	
3	NOM		SEXE			MO JR
L'enfant est:	TE EC	EA/FA	Vit avec toi:	OUI [NON 🗆	GP \square
Année scolai	re:		Classe spéciale	:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
4	NOM		SEXE			MO JR
L'enfant est:	TE EC	EA/FA	Vit avec toi:	OUI	□ NON □	GP 🗆
Année scolai	re:		Classe spéciale	·	·····	
En qu Étudies-tu pr	ioi? (spéciali ésentement? diplôme pos	sation/gén OUI : Ter	nière année terr éral): mps plein □ I	partiel [
6. As-tu	un emploi	(rappel: rei	nseignements g	ardés co	onfidentiels)?	
	OUI 🗆					NON □
Occupation:	H				As-tu déjà et	ı un emploi?
					Oui □ ↓ En quoi?	Non □
Combien d'he	eures/sem.?		·	The state of the s	Pendant com an(s) _	abien de temps? mois

Salaiı	re de l'heure\$	Quand as-tu arrêté de travailler:
Depu	is quand es-tu à cet emploi? inscrire la date AN MO//	date:/ AN MO
	Au cours des 12 derniers mois, as-tu bénéficié de:	
7. Inf	Oui Non l'Assurance chomâge? Oui Non le Prestations d'aide sociale? Oui Non la CSST? (préciser:	s confidentiels):
a)	Son nom: Date	AN MO JR e de naissance
ممر	Son occupation:	
	Ses tâches:	
	Son salaire: \$/ heure No.	mbre d'heures/ semaine
	Il/Elle travaille là depuis: date	
b)	Au cours des 12 derniers mois, a-t-il/elle bénéficié Oui □ Non □ l'Assurance chomâge? Oui □ Non □ Prestations d'aide sociale? Oui □ Non □ la CSST? (préciser:	
c)	Sa scolarité <u>complétée</u> (dernière année terminée):	
	En quoi? (spécialisation/général):	
	Étudie-t-il (elle) présentement? OUI : Temps plei	n □ partiel □ NON □
	Si oui, diplôme postulé?/	pour quand?
8. Inf	ormations sur le père (si n'habite pas avec la mèr	
a)	Son nom: Date	AN MO JR e de naissance
	Son occupation:	
	Ses tâches:	
	Son salaire: \$/ heure Nor	mbre d'heures/ semaine

				AN M	O				
	II/Elle tra	vaille là dep	uis: date						
b)	Oui 🛘	des <u>12 derni</u> Non □ Non □ Non □	l'Assura Prestati	, a-t-il/el ance chor ons d'aid Γ? (précis	nâge? e social	e?)
c)	Sa scolarité complétée (dernière année terminée):								
	En quoi?	(spécialisation	on/génér	al):					
	Étudie-t-	il (elle) prése	ntement	? OUI : '	Temps	plein 🗆	part	iel 🗆	NON 🗆
e de la companya de La companya de la co	Si oui, di (date)	plôme postu _//	lé?			po	our qua	nd?	
9.	Disponib	oilité pour le	test par	ent-enfa	nt				
			Le mati La sema					après-n fin de	nidi semaine
10.		es couleurs: e tu as de la	•						es couleurs
		Oui (préci	ser:			:)		on
S.V.P.	Vérifier l'	adresse et les	s numéro	s de télé	phone.				
No		Rue				a	pp.		
Ville				·	-	Code	postal		
Téléph	ones:	Person Travail Parents	l: '	() ()		-			
	Autre			()					
	ıméro de t et et lien a	éléphone per vec toi:	sonnel e	st à quel	nom da	ns l'ann	uaire té	léphoni	que: Nom

Adresse des p	Jaichis.				
			,		
		<u></u>		 	

Appendix B

Consent Form

"L'INDIVIDU DANS SON MILIEU: Les parents et leurs enfants"

Directeurs du projet: - Lisa A. Serbin, Ph.D. - Dale M. Stack, Ph.D. - Alex E. Schwartzman, Ph.D.

FORMULAIRE DE CONSENTEMENT

Je,	, m'engage volontairement avec mon enfan
parents et leur enfant" de l'U L'étude comprend une série de de mon enfant, ainsi que tro filmés. L'étude comporte deu rémunération totale de \$50.00 En signe de courtoisie, les re communiqués par téléphone.	_, à participer à l'étude "L'individu dans son milieu: Le liversité Concordia. Les buts du projet m'ont été expliqués questionnaires, une évaluation du fonctionnement intellectues périodes de jeux lors desquelles nous serons observés e sessions d'une durée maximale de 3 heures chacune et un me sera allouée aussitôt que les questionnaires seront remis sultats sommaires de l'évaluation de mon enfant me seron de plus, les chercheurs seront prêts à effectuer une ou deut esoin, pour terminer l'évaluation, discuter de résultat service de référence.
filmées, sont strictement confi Dans toutes les circonstances selon la loi sur la protection d	nformations que nous fournissons, qu'elles soient écrites or dentielles et qu'elles ne serviront qu'à des fins de recherche je suis assuré(e) que l'anonymat sera conservé. Cependant e la jeunesse, toute information indiquant de l'abus physique à l'Office de la Protection de la Jeunesse.
Comme le projet "L'individu c être appelé(e) dans l'avenir po	libre de cesser notre participation à n'importe quel moment ans son milieu" est à long terme, je comprends que je pourrai ar participer à d'autres étapes de ce projet. Je me réserve le de donner suite ou non à la demande de participation.
Signature:	
Nom:	
Assistant(e) de recherche:	

Appendix C

Home Visit Protocol

PARENT-CHILD/HEALTH CANADA: Full Protocol

May 15, 1996

DAY 1 PROTOCOL:

- 1- Examiner: takes care of introductions,
 - builds rapport with child,
 - explains general Day 1 procedures to Ss,
 - makes sure mother has read and signed consent form,
 - administers HOME interview items as part of the warm-up conversation,
 - explains saliva sampling and obtains a sample from both of them immediately before standard testing (record the time that all samples are taken on the appropriate form).

Interviewer: - chooses the most appropriate room for interaction series,

- sets up camera and materials for Series 1 in the standard order (see toy lay-

out sheet),

- removes all other unnecessary materials,
- unplugs that room's telephone if present,
- and attempts to remain as invisible to the child as possible until Series 2. (+20 min.).
- **2- Examiner**: begins administering Bayley II or SB4.

Interviewer: - a) if mother does not need to stay with child (for SB4): Interviewer begins administering the demographic, obstetric, temperament and health questionnaires to her;

- **or b)** if mother needs to stay with her child, the Interviewer can supervise siblings, do HOME observation items, score/enter data, or read a good book!!!

(30-60 min. or whatever the child can handle)

BREAK(±10 min.)

Interviewer.

- The 2nd saliva sample is taken from both mother and child immediately following standard testing. Examiner asks mother to come, if she's with

- Make sure you ask Ss if they need to go to the bathroom or get a change of diaper.

- If needed, Interviewer informs Examiner of interaction setup location.
- 3- Before bringing Ss to the interaction room, the Examiner gives mother the following Series 1 instructions.

Série 1

"Maintenant, on aimerait vous voir jouer ensemble. Comme tu sais, on va enregistrer ça sur vidéo. Donc, pour être sûr que vous restiez tous(tes) les deux bien en vue pendant qu'on filme, c'est très important que vous restiez assis(es) tous(tes) les deux sur le tapis qu'on a mis par terre. Moi, je vais rester silencieuse derrière la caméra pour être bien sûr qu'elle fonctionne bien. Donc, essayez d'être le plus naturels possible et faites comme si je n'étais pas là. Alors, la première chose qu'on aimerait que tu fasses est simplement de jouer avec (ENFANT) comme vous le faites d'habitude pendant environ 15 minutes. Vous pouvez prendre n'importe quel des jouets sur le tapis. Puis, quand tu entendras l'alarme sonner, tu pourras arrêter de jouer. As-tu des questions? C'est très important aussi que tu attendes mon signal avant de commencer à jouer, OK?"

Examiner then gets Ss settled on the carpet and instructs child (if s/he can understand such instructions) to remain within its limits; e.g.:

"Maintenant, (CHILD), tu vas jouer avec maman, mais j'aimerais que tu restes sur le tapis. Fais comme si le tapis était ton carré de sable et que c'est défendu de sortir du carré de sable..." etc.

Examiner goes behind the camera and tells mother they can begin. Examiner is responsible for timing Series 1,2, and 3. The beeper should be started and stopped over the microphone so the coders are clear about when to begin and end coding that episode. [If there is an interruption of filming during the **first** half of the series (e.g., bathroom), reset the timer to 15 min. and start over. If the interruption occurs in the **second** half of the series **and** lasts less than 2 min., just pause and restart timer when the interaction resumes; but if the trip takes **more** than 2 min., Series 1 will have to be repeated at the end of Day 2.]

At the end of Series 1, Examiner administers "Maternal perceptions" questionnaire. If mother reports a score of 1 or 2, thus indicating that either her or her child's behavior was not natural, Series 1 should be repeated on Day 2.

 $(\pm 20 \text{ min.})$

BREAK - Everybody leaves interaction room during break so that the (±10 min.) Interviewer can reposition materials for Series 2, and position a barrier (e.g., Fisher Price gate, a playpen) that will <u>safely</u> prevent 12-36 mo. child from leaving interaction room during separation episode.

- Bathroom check

4- While the Examiner supervises the child away from the interaction room, she asks mother to join the Interviewer there. The Interviewer will then give mother the following Series 2 instructions so as not to be heard by child. (If child becomes upset about his/her mother's departure, Examiner will give her the instructions in the child's presence.)

Série 2

FREE PLAY (4 MIN)

"La prochaine période de jeux va aussi être filmé mais va avoir 4 parties: En premier, tu va recommencer à jouer avec (ENFANT) comme tantôt, mais juste pour une couple de minutes jusqu'à ce que tu entendes l'alarme sonner, comme tantôt."

PUZZLES (7 MIN, 4 MIN for 12-36 cohort)

"A ce moment-là, pousse les jouets de côté et choisis un casse-tête à faire avec (ENFANT). (FOR OLDER COHORT, EXPLAIN TO MOTHER THE LABELLED BAGS OF PUZZLE PIECES AND THEIR CORRESPONDING BOARDS). Si vous finissez ce casse-tête-là, vous pouvez travailler sur un autre. Après quelques minutes, l'alarme va sonner de nouveau et je vais entrer pour m'asseoir ici." (PRESS BEEPER WHEN THEY BEGIN WORKING ON THE PUZZLE)

Interviewer comes in at the beep and waits next to the door until mother has left.

Then s/he puts the barrier in place (for 12-36 mo. cohort) and sits down on a chair so as not to face child directly. Interviewer then gets busy with paperwork interacting as little as possible with child (i.e., s/he should not look at, speak to, or touch the child unless s/he is in danger of harming him/herself).

SEPARATION AND REUNION (2+4=6 MIN)

"A ce moment-là, tu sortiras de la pièce pour laisser (ENFANT) jouer tout seul avec les jouets. Et pour être sûr qu'il/elle ne te suivra pas quand tu va sortir, je vais placer une barrière en travers la porte/arche. Bien sûr, si (ENFANT) devient trop dérangé par ton absence, ou si tu te sens mal à l'aise, on arrêtera puis tu pourras le/la rejoindre. Sinon, après une couple de minutes, je vais sortir pour te dire que c'est le temps d'aller rejoindre (ENFANT) sur le tapis. Puis, tu passera 3-4 minutes de plus avec lui/elle et on te laissera savoir quand tout est fini."

Examiner programs beeper for 6 min. and presses "start" when mother exits the room. Then, after 2 minutes, she signals Interviewer to go get mother by pressing "pause" and presses "start" again when mother comes in. Examiner should keep child in view during separation and reunion episodes.

"Donc, pour résumer, commencez par jouer ensemble comme vous le faites d'habitude; puis, quand tu entendras l'alarme, pousse les jouets de côté et choisis un cassetête. Quand tu me verras entrer, sors de la pièce jusqu'à ce que je te dise te rejoindre (ENFANT). J'ai une petite liste qui pourra t'aider à te souvenir des étapes, et je vais la placer juste ici. As-tu des questions? J'aimerais juste te rappeler encore de rester sur la couverture pour que vous puissiez rester bien en vue. J'aimerais aussi quand tu sortiras que tu restes invisible pour (ENFANT), mais assez près pour entendre l'alarme. N'oublie pas d'attendre le signal avant de commencer, OK?"

At the end of Series 2, Interviewer takes cortisol sampling and **then** administers "Maternal perceptions" questionnaire If mother reports a score of 1 or 2,

Series 2 should be repeated on Day 2. The interviewer then takes the final saliva sample from both the parent and her child.

(+25 min.)

5- At the end of Day 1, Interviewer administers Day 1 Touch Questionnaire, gives instructions for mother and father questionnaire packages, and summarizes Day 2 procedures.

N.B. If child needs to nap during Day 1, Interviewer can take that opportunity to begin interviews with mother.

Total time, 2-3 hours

Fill out the VideoTape log sheet. Clean Bayley II and toys between each visit DAY 2 PROTOCOL:

1- Examiner reconnects with child. Rapport building between Interviewer and mother, this includes Day 2 general instructions.

(+15 min)

2- Examiner finishes Bayley II or SB4. If mother does not need to stay with child, Interviewer answers any questions she might have about the questionnaires and finishes interviewing her. But if mother still needs to stay with child, Interviewer can set up Series 3 materials.

BREAK (+10 min.)

- Series 3 setup, if not done already
- Bathroom check
- 3- While Examiner supervises child away from interaction room, she tells mother to go to the interaction room to meet Interviewer who gives her the following Series 3 instructions so as not to be heard by child. If child becomes upset about mother's departure, the Examiner gives her the instructions in the child's presence.

Série 3

FREE PLAY (4 MIN)

"C'est la dernière fois qu'on va vous filmer, et il y a 4 choses qu'on aimerait que vous fassiez ensemble. D'abord, comme l'autre jour, on aimerais que tu joues avec (ENFANT) comme vous le faites d'habitude avec les jouets jusqu'à ce que tu entendes l'alarme sonner.

COMMAND TASK (3 MIN) NOT DONE FOR 12-24 MO. CHILDREN

A ce moment-là, vous aller arrêter de jouer pour faire quelque chose de complètement différent. Pour les 2-3 prochaines minutes, j'aimerais que tu demandes à (ENFANT) de faire quelques petites tâches pour toi. Tiens, voilà une liste de tâches que tu peux utiliser (GIVE HER THE PAD). Comme tu peux voir, il y en a qui sont plus difficiles

que d'autres; c'est parce qu'on visite différentes familles avec des enfants d'âges différents. Celles du début sont plus faciles que celles de la fin (READ FIRST 3 AND LAST 3). On aimerais que tu prennes au moins 4 ou 5 des tâches de la liste. Tu peux en prendre plus si tu veux et tu peux même inventer tes propres tâches, mais pourvu que (ENFANT) n'ait pas à sortir de la pièce. Le pad sera placé tout près du tapis. (PRESS BEEPER WHEN MOTHER BEGINS INTRODUCING TASK)

INTERFERENCE TASK (3 MIN)

Quand tu entendras l'alarme sonner, vous arrêterez pour faire autre chose encore. On aimerais voir comment (ENFANT) réagit quand tu es très occupée. Tu sais comment c'est des fois quand tu es au téléphone ou bien en train de faire à manger et que c'est pas possible de lui donner toutes l'attention qu'il/elle demande. Pour observer ça, on aimerais que tu tournes la page sur ton pad pour remplir les questionnaires qui sont juste en-dessous (SHOW HER). Et pendant que tu les remplis, on aimerait que tu te retournes un peu pour lui faire comprendre que ce que tu fais est trés important. (ENFANT) pourra continuer à jouer avec les jouets pendant ce temps-là; mais assure-toi encore qu'il/elle reste assis(e) sur le tapis. Tu continueras de travailler sur les questionnaires jusqu'à ce que tu entendes une autre alarme. (PRESS BEEPER WHEN MOTHER BEGINS QUESTIONNAIRE)

FREE PLAY (4 MIN)

A ce moment-là, mets le pad de côté et recommence à jouer avec (ENFANT) comme vous le faites d'habitude jusqu'à ce l'alarme te dise que c'est fini. N'oublie pas de rester à l'intérieur des limites du tapis pour que la caméra puisse vous garder tous les deux bien en vue.

Donc, en résumé, commencez par jouer avec (ENFANT) comme vous le faites d'habitude; ensuite, quand tu entends la lère alarme, prends le pad et fais-lui faire des tâches; puis, à la 2e alarme, commence à travailler sur le questionnaire jusqu'à ce que tu entendes la 3e alarme. A ce moment-là, tu recommences simplement à jouer avec (ENFANT). Comme la dernière fois, on a une petite liste qui va t'aider à te rappeler des étapes. As-tu des questions? N'oublie pas d'attendre le signal avant de commencer, OK?"

At the end of Series 3, Interviewer administers "Maternal perceptions" and "Touch" questionnaires.

 $(\pm 25 \text{ min.})$

BREAK +10 min.

4- Examiner administers the "Parenting Practices Interview", investigate any clinical concerns that might have arisen through other questionnaires, administers the remaining HOME interview items and the SCID modules (if required). Meanwhile, the Interviewer administers the Peabody to the child. When Examiner is done with her interviews, the Interviewer joins her for the wrapup.

(±60 min. or more, as needed)

Total time, 2-3 hours. Fill out the VideoTape log sheet. Clean Bayley II and toys between each visit.